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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

           v. 

 

MICHAEL MILCHIN, 

 

                                           Defendant. 

 

 CRIMINAL ACTION 

 NO. 17-284-1 

 

PAPPERT, J.                     July 7, 2017 

MEMORANDUM 

 Michael Milchin was charged with conspiracy to commit health care fraud in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371, aiding and abetting in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2 and five 

counts of health care fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347 in connection with a scheme 

to defraud Independence Blue Cross and Aetna Inc. through Central Bucks Health 

Associates, a chiropractic office run by Milchin and John Vira, charged separately.  

Milchin was also charged with fifteen counts of possession of oxycodone with intent to 

distribute in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), (b)(1)(C) and, along with thirteen other 

defendants, conspiracy to distribute oxycodone in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 846.  At 

Milchin’s arraignment, the magistrate judge granted the government’s motion for 

pretrial detention.  Milchin filed a motion for pretrial release, (ECF No. 98), which, 

after holding a hearing, the Court now denies. 

I. 

 Milchin, Central Bucks Health Associates’s (“CBHA”) business manager, and 

Vira, a licensed chiropractor, are charged with conspiring to defraud Independence 

Blue Cross and Aetna by billing them over $700,000 from approximately June 2010 to 
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July 2012 for chiropractic services that were allegedly never rendered.  (Gov.’s Resp., at 

2, ECF No. 117.)  Milchin is also charged with running a drug trafficking conspiracy 

from approximately May 2012 to March 2015, which resulted in the alleged illegal 

distribution of large quantities of oxycodone pills.  (Id. at 2–3.)  During that time, 

Milchin allegedly used various “runners,” including his co-defendants, to obtain large 

quantities of oxycodone from various pharmacies using fraudulent prescriptions that 

were ostensibly written by a physician who was purportedly associated with CBHA.  

However, that physician, whose identity is known to the parties, did not authorize the 

prescriptions and had no affiliation with CBHA.  (Id. at 2.)  Rather, Milchin, who is not 

a physician, allegedly obtained prescription pads in the physician’s name and began 

forging prescriptions for, among other things, oxycodone.  (Id. at 3.)   

 Milchin and other co-conspirators allegedly filled, and recruited numerous other 

individuals to fill, the fraudulent prescriptions at various pharmacies in the Eastern 

District of Pennsylvania.  (Id.)  The runners turned the pills over to Milchin, or others 

acting on his behalf, and were paid in cash or with a portion of the fraudulently 

obtained pills.  (Id.)  Milchin, in turn, allegedly provided large quantities of the pills to 

other co-conspirators to sell through street-level drug deals.  (Id.) 

 To avoid detection and assure a continuous supply of oxycodone, Milchin 

allegedly arranged for a telephone number under his control to be imprinted on the 

fraudulent oxycodone prescriptions.  He then fielded, and had others, including co-

defendant Lisa Mack, field telephone calls from pharmacies attempting to contact the 

purported physician’s office to verify the prescriptions.  (Id.)  Milchin allegedly 

pretended to work at the physician’s office and confirmed the information written on 
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the fraudulent prescriptions, including the names, dates of birth and purported 

diagnostic codes for the individuals filling the prescriptions.  (Id.) 

 During the course of the drug trafficking conspiracy, Milchin allegedly obtained 

well over one 100,000 oxycodone (30 mg) pills, which were then illegally distributed to 

others.  Based on the drug’s estimated street value, Milchin allegedly received more 

than $1.5 million in cash.  (Id. at 3.)     

II. 

 Milchin was indicted on both the health care fraud and drug trafficking offenses 

on May 23, 2017.  (Id. at 1–2.)  He was arrested by the FBI at his home on May 30, 

2017.  (Def.’s Mot. ¶ 7.)   He was arraigned on June 2, 2017, in advance of which the 

Office of Probation and Pretrial Services submitted a report concluding that Milchin 

posed “some risk of nonappearance” and “some risk of danger to the community” but 

nonetheless recommending that he be released on a $50,000 bond, subject to certain 

conditions.  (Pretrial Services Report, at 4.)  The magistrate judge ordered Milchin 

detained, concluding that the government showed by clear and convincing evidence that 

no condition would reasonably assure the safety of other persons and the community.  

(Def.’s Mot. ¶ 10.)   

III. 

 The Bail Reform Act, 18 U.S.C. § 3142 et seq., governs pretrial detention.  The 

Act provides that “[i]f, after a hearing . . . the judicial officer finds that no condition or 

combination of conditions will reasonably assure the appearance of the person as 

required and the safety of any other person and the community, such judicial officer 

shall order the detention of the person before trial.”  Id. § 3142(e).  If there is probable 
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cause to believe that the defendant committed an offense for which the Controlled 

Substances Act prescribes a maximum term of imprisonment of ten or more years, 

however, a rebuttable presumption arises that no combination of conditions will ensure 

the defendant’s appearance or assure the community’s safety.  See id. §§ 3142(e) (2)–(3). 

 Here, there is probable cause to believe Milchin committed criminal conspiracy, 

distribution and possession with the intent to distribute oxycodone in violation of 21 

U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(C) and 846, supported both by the grand jury’s indictment 

and the facts proffered by the government.  See United States v. Suppa, 799 F.2d 115, 

119 (3d Cir. 1986) (holding that a grand jury’s indictment “is sufficient to support a 

finding of probable cause . . . under § 3142(e)”).  Accordingly, a presumption arises that 

no condition or conditions of release will assure Milchin’s presence at trial and the 

safety of the community. 

 In order to rebut the presumption of detention, “[t]he defendant must produce 

some credible evidence forming a basis for his contention that he will appear and will 

not pose a threat to the community.”  United States v. Carbone, 793 F.2d 559, 560 (3d 

Cir. 1986).  If the defendant is able to meet this burden of production, the government 

bears the ultimate burden of persuasion.  See United States v. Perry, 788 F.2d 100, 114–

15 (3d Cir. 1986).  Even if a defendant rebuts the presumption of dangerousness or 

flight, however, “the presumption does not disappear entirely, but remains a factor to 

be considered among those weighed by the district court.”  United States v. Farris, 

Crim. No. 2:08-145, 2008 WL 1944131, at *8 (W.D. Pa. May 1, 2008) (quoting United 

States v. Abad, 350 F.3d 793, 797 (8th Cir. 2003)); see also Carbone, 793 F.2d at 560–61.  

However, the government ultimately must prove that the defendant poses a flight risk 
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by a preponderance of the evidence or that he is a danger to the community by clear 

and convincing evidence.  See United States v. Himler, 797 F.2d 156, 161 (3d Cir. 1986) 

(risk of flight standard); Perry, 788 F.2d at 114 (dangerousness standard).   

 In assessing a defendant’s dangerousness and the likelihood that he or she will 

flee, § 3142 requires the Court to consider the following: 

(1) The nature and circumstances of the offense charged, including whether the 

offense is a crime of violence or involves a narcotic drug; 

 

(2) The weight of the evidence against the person; 

 

(3) The history and characteristics of the person, including- 

 

(A) the person’s character, physical and mental condition, family ties, 

employment, financial resources, length of residence in the community, 

community ties, past conduct, history relating to drug or alcohol abuse, 

criminal history, and record concerning appearance at court proceedings; 

and 

 

(B) whether, at the time of the current offense or arrest, the person was on 

probation, on parole, or on other release pending trial, sentencing, 

appeal, or completion of sentence for an offense under Federal, State, or 

local law; and 

 

(4) The nature and seriousness of the danger to any person in the community 

that would be posed by the person’s release. 

 

18 U.S.C. § 3142(g).  The Court reviews the factors and makes this determination de 

novo.  See United States v. Delker, 757 F.2d 1390, 1394 (3d Cir. 1985).   

IV. 

A. 

 First, a number of the offenses with which Milchin is charged—conspiracy and 

possession with intent to distribute—are serious and involve the trafficking of large 

quantities of oxycodone with an approximate street value of $1.5 million.  (Gov.’s Resp., 

at 3.)  “These charges amount to strong allegations, supported by probable cause, that 
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[Milchin] was a significant drug distributor.”  United States v. Santiago-Pagan, Crim. 

No. 1:08-0424-01, 2009 WL 1106814, at *6 (M.D. Pa. Apr. 23, 2009).  If convicted on all 

counts charged, Milchin faces a total statutory maximum sentence of 375 years.  (Id. at 

7.)  The statutory maximum sentence for conspiracy to distribute oxycodone, a Schedule 

II controlled substance, is 20 years’ imprisonment, a mandatory minimum 3 years to 

lifetime supervised release, a fine of $1,000,000 and a special assessment of $100.  (Id. 

at 10.)  The statutory maximum sentence for each count of possession of oxycodone with 

intent to distribute is 20 years’ imprisonment, a mandatory minimum 3 years to 

lifetime supervised release, a fine of $1,000,000 and a special assessment of $100.  (Id.)  

According to its “conservative calculation,” estimating Milchin’s base offense level to be 

36 and his criminal history category as I, the government believes that his sentencing 

guidelines range will be 188 to 235 months’ imprisonment.  (Id. at 7.) 

 The seriousness of the crimes alleged and Milchin’s alleged leadership role in 

committing them weigh against his release.  See Santiago-Pagan, 2009 WL 1106814, at 

*6 (charges of conspiracy, distribution and possession with intent to distribute cocaine 

and marijuana, subjecting defendant to life sentence, weighed against his release); 

United States v. Allen, Crim. No. 07-100, 2007 WL 1830681, at *4 (W.D. Pa. June 25, 

2007) (seriousness of drug trafficking and mandatory minimum of ten years weighed 

against release); United States v. Amparo, Crim No. 05-939-M-2, 2005 WL 2877737, at 

*2 (E.D. Pa. Oct. 7, 2005) (charges of conspiracy to distribute and possession with intent 

to distribute cocaine, subjecting defendant to mandatory minimum of five years’ 

imprisonment and maximum of eighty years’ imprisonment, weighed against 

defendant’s release notwithstanding lack of history of violence or use of a firearm); 
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United States v. Caniglia, Crim. No. 02-188-01, 2002 WL 32351181, at *3 (E.D. Pa. Apr. 

9, 2002) (stating that the charged offense—the sale of over $900,000 worth of 

prescription pills, including OxyContin—“weigh[ed] heavily against pretrial release”); 

United States v. Giampa, 755 F. Supp. 665, 669 (W.D. Pa. 1990), aff’d, 947 F.2d 938 (3d 

Cir. 1991) (“[T]he nature of the offense weighs heavily in favor of the presumption, as 

Congress expressed particular concern over the risks attendant to pretrial release of 

those accused of narcotic offenses.”). 

B. 

  Second, the weight of the evidence against Milchin is strong.  With respect to 

the drug trafficking charges, the evidence includes (1) numerous on-the-record 

interviews of various defendants and co-conspirators detailing the oxycodone conspiracy 

and Milchin’s role as the organizer and leader of the scheme; (2) oxycodone 

prescriptions in defendants’ names, obtained by subpoena from various pharmacies, as 

well as signature logs and photocopies of drivers’ licenses, sometimes proffered by 

defendants as identification when filling prescriptions; (3) testimony from the physician 

whose name and prescription pad Milchin allegedly used that he has no affiliation with 

CBHA, did not treat any of the co-conspirators or sign any of the oxycodone 

prescriptions at issue; and (4) documentary evidence regarding Milchin’s acquisition of 

the prescription pads in question.  (Gov.’s Resp., at 5.)  The significant evidence 

supporting the indictment weighs against Milchin’s release.  

C. 

 Third, with respect to Milchin’s history and characteristics, he is thirty-seven 

years old, has a high school degree and attended three years of college.  (Pretrial 
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Services Report, at 1–2.)  He has resided in the Philadelphia area for fifteen years and 

currently lives in Philadelphia with his wife and two minor children, who are five and 

seven years old.  (Pretrial Services Report, at 1; Def.’s Mot., at 1.)  His parents and 

brother, with whom he maintains close relationships, reside in New York City and his 

in-laws live in Philadelphia.  (Pretrial Services Report, at 1.)  Several family members, 

including his wife, mother, father, mother-in-law and sister-in-law, attended the 

hearing.  If called to testify, all would have spoken to their family’s close and loving 

relationship and described Milchin as reliable, non-violent and the “quintessential 

family man.”  The only witness who testified was his mother, Maya Milchin.  She stated 

that she speaks to her son daily, that he is an excellent father to his young children and 

that, if he is released, she would call or text him daily and visit him in Philadelphia as 

frequently as necessary.  On cross-examination, Mrs. Milchin acknowledged that she 

similarly spoke with Milchin on a daily basis during the several year period when, 

according to the indictment, he was engaged in extensive criminal conduct.  

 Milchin contends he has been “gainfully employed” at all relevant times, (Def.’s 

Mot. ¶ 6), and the Pretrial Services Report notes that he has “a history of full-time 

employment and appears to own a business,” (Pretrial Services Report, at 4).  The 

report notes that Milchin was employed by the law firm of Levinson and Abrams from 

approximately April 2015 to April 2017.  (Id. at 2.)  However, the government points out 

that Milchin allegedly used his prior employment at CBHA to fraudulently bill health 

insurers from 2010 to 2012 and as a front for drug trafficking from 2012 to 2015. (Gov.’s 

Resp., at 5.)  Milchin’s overall employment history does not weigh in his favor.  He 

currently purports to be employed as the owner of “Ace Medical Management,” a 



9 
 

medical records company.  (Pretrial Services Report, at 2). 

 Though the Pretrial Services Report notes that Milchin “indicated no prior opioid 

addiction related issues,” it also states that he “appears to have some history of 

substance abuse related issues and is prescribed psychotropic medications used to treat 

anxiety and panic attacks as well as attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder.”  (Id. at 3–

4.)  Milchin does not have a criminal record and thus does not have a record of failing to 

appear.  (Id.) 

D. 

 The fourth and final factor poses the ultimate question and involves 

consideration of Milchin’s risk of non-appearance and the seriousness of potential harm 

to any persons or the community.  18 U.S.C. § 3142(g).    

i. 

 “When it enacted the Bail Reform Act, Congress held hearings and concluded 

that defendants involved in drug trafficking posed a peculiar risk of flight.  It found 

that drug traffickers often establish contacts in other countries which would allow them 

to flee with relative ease.  Moreover, due to the lucrative nature of drug trafficking, 

Congress concluded that the forfeiture of a bond is simply a cost of doing business.”   

Giampa, 755 F. Supp. at 669 (citing S. Rep. No. 225, 98th Cong. 1st Sess. 20 (1983) 

reprinted in 1984 U.S. Code Cong. & Admin. News pp. 23–24); see also United States v. 

Merlino, Crim. No. 99-363, 1999 WL 557943, at *6 (E.D. Pa. July 30, 1999) (same).  As 

discussed above, Milchin faces a significant sentence if convicted, giving him motive to 

flee.  See United States v. Oliver, Crim. No. 16-40, 2016 WL 1746853, at *9 (W.D. Pa. 

May 3, 2016) (collecting cases); Merlino, 1999 WL 557943, at *6.   
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 Milchin has a history of semi-regular travel outside the United States—he owns 

a Unites States Passport, he traveled to the Bahamas for a family vacation in 2017 and 

took a cruise to the Dominican Republic and other Caribbean Islands approximately 

five years ago.  (Pretrial Services Report, at 2.)  The government also notes that the 

more than $1 million in cash that Milchin is estimated to have received from the 

oxycodone scheme has not been accounted for and may be available to him.  (Gov.’s 

Resp., at 8.)  Milchin argues he is not a flight risk and points to the fact that in the days 

leading up to his arrest, despite being “well aware” of the investigation against him, he 

returned to the United States from the Bahamas to answer the charges against him.1  

(Def.’s Mot. ¶ 8.)   

 Milchin’s family ties in the area and his prior failure to flee despite knowledge of 

the investigation against him are sufficient to rebut the presumption that he is a flight 

risk.  See United States v. Gibson, 481 F. Supp. 2d 419, 422 (W.D. Pa. 2007) (“The 

quantum of evidence required to rebut the presumption is not high.  Rather, the 

defendant need only come forward with credible evidence conflicting with the 

presumption.”).  However, given the nature of the crime, the significant sentence 

Milchin faces and the potential resources at his disposal, the government has 

established by a preponderance of the evidence that there is no condition or 

combination of conditions that can assure his appearance at trial.  See, e.g., United 

States v. Bey, Crim. No. 15-87, 2015 WL 7176340, at *4 (W.D. Pa. Nov. 13, 2015) 

(notwithstanding his family support and lack of history of failing to appear, defendant 

facing seventeen years’ incarceration for drug trafficking charges was a flight risk); 

                                                           
1 The government disagrees, stating at the hearing that Milchin did not know the full nature, 

scope or timing of its investigation and that Milchin, when he returned from the Bahamas, did not 

know he was going to be arrested. 
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Santiago-Pagan, 2009 WL 1106814, at *7 (notwithstanding defendant’s steady 

employment, family ties and lack of criminal record, § 3142 factors weighed in favor of 

detention); United States v. Garcia, Crim. No. 07-00529, 2007 WL 2825724, at *4 (E.D. 

Pa. Sept. 20, 2007) (notwithstanding defendant’s community ties, lack of criminal 

history and failure to flee despite knowledge of federal investigation, factors weighed in 

favor of detention); Caniglia, 2002 WL 32351181, at *4 (notwithstanding significant 

family and community ties, lack of criminal record and failure to flee during 

investigation, defendant facing long sentence for trafficking large quantities OxyContin 

posed flight risk). 

ii. 

 Drug trafficking certainly poses a substantial risk of harm to the community, 

particularly the trafficking of significant quantities of very dangerous and addictive 

drugs like oxycodone.  See United States v. Strong, 775 F.2d 504, 508 (3d Cir. 1985) 

(Congress intended to equate drug trafficking with danger to the community); Perry, 

788 F.2d at 113 (the Bail Reform Act “permits detention of persons found to be 

dangerous in a very real sense; distributors of dangerous drugs . . . ”); United States v. 

Gibson, 481 F. Supp. 2d 419, 423 (W.D. Pa. 2007) (“[V]iolence is not the only danger to 

the community this court must consider.  The court must also consider the danger of 

trafficking in illicit drugs.”).  The Third Circuit Court of Appeals has held that “safety,” 

as comprehended by the Act, includes a reasonable assurance that drug dealing will not 

continue.  See Carbone, 793 F.2d at 561–62 (citing Strong, 775 F.2d at 508; Perry, 788 

F.2d at 114 (“[T]he dangerousness determination involves a prediction of the detainee’s 

likely future behavior[,]” i.e., a prediction about “the likelihood that the defendant will, 
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if released, commit one of the proscribed federal offenses.”)).   

 Thus, in order to rebut the presumption, Milchin must introduce sufficient 

evidence that he would not pose a danger to the community through continued drug 

trafficking.  See Carbone, 793 F.2d at 561–62; Chagra, 850 F. Supp. at 358 (collecting 

cases).  Milchin has not presented sufficient evidence, and the Court finds no assurance 

that he will not engage in further drug trafficking or other dangerous criminal activity, 

particularly here where the alleged conduct demonstrates an extreme disregard for the 

safety of others.2  Milchin allegedly fraudulently obtained hundreds of thousands of 

oxycodone pills and sold them to addicts and drug dealers without regard to the 

consequences to the end-users or the public at large.  Schedule II controlled substances, 

like oxycodone, have “a currently accepted medical use in treatment in the United 

States” with “severe restrictions” but have a “high potential for abuse,” which “may lead 

to severe psychological or physical dependence.”  21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(2).  “Hence, the 

high volume trafficking of these particular types of illegal narcotics presents 

considerable danger to the community.”  Oliver, 2016 WL 1746853, at *8.   

 Furthermore, many of the individuals who filled the prescriptions at Milchin’s 

direction were drug users and addicts themselves, some of whom have since died as a 

result of their addictions.  (Gov.’s Resp., at 5.)  Milchin is alleged to have preyed on 

their addictions by offering them cash or a cut of the pills in exchange for filling the 

                                                           
2 At the hearing before the magistrate judge, F.B.I. Agent John Dolan testified about a 

statement Milchin allegedly made previously to Lisa Mack, a co-defendant, which she perceived to be 

“threatening.”  (Def.’s Mot. ¶ 14.)  He allegedly stated something to the effect that if she did not 

continue her illegal activities, he would “send some people to see her.”  (Id.)  Milchin “adamantly 

denies he threatened anyone including, but not limited to,” Mack.  (Id. ¶¶ 13–14.)  The government 

argues “this conduct suggests that [Milchin] is a dangerous person who could pose a threat to 

witnesses in this case.”  (Gov.’s Resp., at 7.)  The Court did not place significant weight on this 

evidence and notes that even in its absence, Milchin failed to rebut the presumption and the 

government established by clear and convincing evidence that Milchin’s release would pose a danger 

to the community. 
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prescriptions.  (Id.)  By exploiting the addictive properties of oxycodone, Milchin 

allegedly engaged in a reckless scheme that was easy to orchestrate and execute.  

Though this scheme ended around March 2015, the allegations against Milchin reflect a 

propensity to move from one scheme to another. 

 Defense counsel contends that placing Milchin in home confinement, subject to 

electronic monitoring and various other conditions, will adequately protect the 

community.  However, courts have recognized that strict conditions of release, including 

home confinement and electronic monitoring cannot guarantee that a defendant will no 

longer engage in criminal activity.  See, e.g., Caniglia, 2002 WL 32351181, at *6 

(notwithstanding defendant’s lack of criminal record, family support and character 

testimony and offer to surrender pharmacy license, detention was appropriate because 

court was not satisfied he would refrain from further drug distribution); Yarbough, 

2014 WL 7343839, at *4.  Indeed, Milchin allegedly orchestrated much of the oxycodone 

scheme by directing others to do his bidding and “[i]f released to home detention, 

nothing prevents [him] from continuing to engage in illegal activity.”  Yarbough, 2014 

WL 7343839, at *4.  Moreover, the government expressed concern that Milchin’s 

current ownership of a medical records company, which gives him access to information 

about physicians and third party patients, could provide a vehicle or platform for 

continued criminal conduct which he could conduct from his home.  (Pretrial Services 

Report, at 2; Gov.’s Resp., at 6.)  At the hearing, the Court was informed that Milchin’s 

wife is gainfully employed.  It follows that Milchin, if released, would be home alone 

and unsupervised for extended periods of time.          

 Milchin has failed to rebut the presumption that no conditions exist that will 
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ensure the protection of the community and, even if he had, the government has 

established the same by clear and convincing evidence.  See United States v. Hidalgo-

Perez, Crim. No. 12-671-1, 2013 WL 180366, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Jan. 17, 2013) (defendant’s 

lack of criminal history insufficient to outweigh strong evidence that he trafficked 

substantial amounts of heroin and posed danger to community); Santiago-Pagan, 2009 

WL 1106814, at *7 (notwithstanding lack of criminal record, § 3142 factors weighed in 

favor of detention given nature of drug trafficking and attendant risk of pretrial 

recidivism); Cf. United States v. Hernandez-Bourdier, Crim. No. 16-222-2, 2017 WL 

56033, at *8 (W.D. Pa. Jan. 5, 2017) (given defendant’s favorable personal 

characteristics and evidence that he played a minor role in the drug conspiracy as a 

mere mule, conditions existed that could prevent him from engaging in future 

trafficking); Giampa, 755 F. Supp. at 670 (no evidence defendant posed a danger to the 

community where he did not appear to live the life of a serious drug dealer and there 

was no evidence that he had the means or contacts to procure drugs). 

 An appropriate order follows. 

      BY THE COURT: 

 

      /s/ Gerald J. Pappert 

      GERALD J. PAPPERT, J. 
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